### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., ETC.

Petitioner,

v.

FSC CASE NO. SC03-137 1DCA CASE NO. 1D01-3205

JOHNNY BOLDEN,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S MERITS BRIEF

\_\_\_\_\_

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District,
State of Florida

\_\_\_\_\_

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 593280 ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL

JUDY BONE FLORIDA BAR NO. 0503398 ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 2601 BLAIR STONE ROAD TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-2500 (950) 488-2326

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER,

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., SECRETARY,

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CITATIONSi-iv
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT9
ARGUMENT <u>CERTIFIED QUESTION</u>
WHEN AN INMATE WHO IS SERVING SEVERAL RELATED SENTENCES SUBJECT TO CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION FOR MULTIPLE CRIMES OCCURRING IN THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE HAS VIOLATED CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE, CONSIDER TIME SERVED FOLLOWING THE EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTION OF ONE SENTENCE, WHILE AWAITING EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTIONS OF THE OTHER RELATED SENTENCES, AS TOLLED, PURSUANT TO EVANS V.  SINGLETARY, 737 SO.2D 505 (FLA. 1999), AND, IF SO, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT ADD SUCH TOLLED TIME ONTO THE SENTENCE IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE?
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE48
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE48

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASES</u>
<u>Bradley v. State</u> , 721 So.2d 775 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)20,29,44
Brooks v. State, 762 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)18,22,29
<u>Coleman v. Wainwright</u> , 323 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1975)15
<u>Davis v. Attorney General</u> , 432 F.2d 777 (5th Cir. 1970)42
<u>Duncan v. Moore</u> , 754 So.2d 708 (Fla. 2000)19,20,35
<u>Dowdy v. Singletary</u> , 704 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 1998)35
<pre>Evans v. Singletary,     737 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1999)7-9,13,15,22,26-29,35,44- 45</pre>
<u>Fiat Motors of N. America v. Calvin</u> , 356 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)
<u>Gay v. Singletary</u> , 700 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1997)15,19,37-39
<u>Henley v. Johnson</u> , 885 F.2d 790 (11th Cir. 1989)42
<u>Hopping v. State</u> , 650 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995)43
<u>Keene v. Cochran</u> , 146 So.2d 364 (Fla. 1962)33
Lincoln v. Florida Parole Commision, 643 So.2d 668 (Fla.1st DCA

<pre>Mann v. Goodyear Tire &amp; Rubber Co., 300 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1974)37</pre>				
<pre>Mayes v. Moore, 827 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2002)19,35</pre>				
<u>Orosz v. Singletary</u> , 693 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1997)18				
<u>Parole Com'n v. Cooper</u> , 701 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1997)15,26,28				
<u>Pressley v. Singletary</u> , 724 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1997)15,24,26,28				
<u>Rivera v. Singletary</u> , 707 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1998)15,19,39,40				
<u>Schell v. Wainwright</u> , 322 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1975)15				
<u>Silvester v. State</u> , 794 So.2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)41				
<u>State v. Green</u> , 547 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1989)14,31				
<u>State v. Savage</u> , 589 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)22,26,27,29,44				
<u>Thomas v. Moore</u> , 797 so.2d 1196 (Fla. 2001)15				
<u>Tripp v. State</u> , 622 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1993)14,31				
<u>Wilson v. State</u> , 603 So.2d 93 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)40				
<u>Winkler v. Moore</u> , 831 So.2d 63 (Fla. 2002)16,21				

STATUTES

§
775.084
775.087
§ 790.221
§
921.001714,31
§ 921.16114,16, 31
§ 944.2752,14,16,20,21,31,32,38,39
§
944.285,15,34,36
§ 944.291
§
947.00520 §
9447.140519,23,24,25,31
§
947.14123,32,34
CHAPTER LAWS
Ch. 88- 12234
FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE RULE
Rule 33-601.104(1)(a)335
COURT RULES
Fla.R.Crm.P. 3.701
OTHER SOURCES
Webster's New Work College Dictionary (4th ed. 2000)21

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

Respondent Bolden committed aggravated battery in violation of section 784.045, a second-degree felony; possession of a short-barreled shotgun in violation of section 790.221, a second-degree felony; felonious possession of a firearm in violation of section 790.23, a second-degree felony; and aggravated assault in violation of section 784.021, a third-degree felony on December 21, 1992 involving two victims. (R. 45-49) He pled guilty on April 27, 1993 and was sentenced on each offense to prison for 10 years, less 127 days of jail credit. (R. 50-62) The sentences for aggravated battery, possession of a short-barreled shotgun, and aggravated assault were imposed as habitual felony offender sentences pursuant to section 775.084(4)(a). (R. 51, 53, 57) As to the three habitual felony offender sentences, a threeyear firearm minimum mandatory term was imposed pursuant to section 775.087(2) for the aggravated battery and aggravated assault offenses, and a five-year minimum term was imposed for

¹The petitioner will be referred to as the Florida Department of Corrections or as the "Department"; the respondent, Johnny Bolden, will be referred to by his last name; and the Florida Parole Commission will be referred to as the "Commission" or "FPC." The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R," followed by the appropriate page numbers.

possession of a short barreled shotgun. (R. 51, 53, 57)2

The Department received custody of Respondent Bolden on May 11, 1993. (R. 39) Although the sentences ran concurrently, they did not end at the same time due to the differences in the applicable gain-time law on each sentence. No basic gain-time, only incentive gain-time (up to 20 days/month) was authorized on the habitual felony offender sentences, and no gain-time of any sort was authorized on two of the habitual offender sentences (aggravated assault/battery) until the 3-year firearm minimum mandatory term was served. On the other hand, both basic (10 days/month applied in a lump sum up front) and incentive gain-time (up to 20 days/month) were authorized on the sentence for felonious possession of a firearm, and incentive gain time (up to 20 days/month) was authorized on the shotgun sentence during the 5-year minimum mandatory term. (R. 40)<sup>3</sup>

 $<sup>^2\</sup>mbox{Respondent}$  Bolden also committed two misdemeanors for which he was sentenced to time served (R. 58-61), which have no relevance to the present litigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See § 775.084(4)(e), Fla. Stat. (1991) ("A defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gaintime granted by the Department of Corrections except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain-time each month as provided for in s. 944.275(4)(b)"); § 775.087(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1991) ("Any person who is convicted of ... aggravated assault, aggravated battery ... and who had in his possession a 'firearm,' ... shall be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of 3 calendar years. \*\*\* [A]djudication

Respondent Bolden was subject to conditional release supervision on the three habitual felony offender sentences, which did not end at the same time. The shotgun sentence ended before the aggravated assault/battery sentences, the reason being that Bolden was eligible to receive incentive gain time while serving the 5-year minimum mandatory term on the shotgun sentence but not while serving the 3-year firearm minimum mandatory terms on the aggravated assault/battery sentences. (R. 40-41)

The shotgun sentence commenced to run on April 27, 1993 and ended on April 25, 1999 and was comprised of the following: TIME SERVED 2316 days [127 days of jail credit + 2189 days of prison time served] + 1334 days of GAIN TIME, WHICH IS TIME NOT SERVED for a grand total of 3650 days (10-year sentence). (R. 41)

Had this been Bolden's only sentence, he would have been released on April 25, 1999 into the conditional release

of guilt or imposition of sentence shall not be suspended, deferred, or withheld, nor shall the defendant be eligible for parole or statutory gain-time under s. 944.275, prior to serving such minimum sentence"); § 790.221(2), Fla. Stat. (1991) ("Upon conviction thereof [for possession of short-barreled shotgun] he shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of 5 years"; no provision restricting award of gain time); § 944.275(4)and (6), Fla. Stat. (1991; 2002) (sets out various types and rates of gain time that are authorized).

program under the control of the Florida Parole Commission for a period of time equal to the amount of gain time that was awarded, 1334 days. Bolden, however, still had to complete the aggravated assault/battery sentences before he could be released to supervision.

The aggravated assault/battery sentences both ended on March 27, 2000 and were comprised of the following: TIME SERVED 2653 days [127 days of jail credit + 2526 days of prison time served] + 997 days of GAIN TIME, WHICH IS TIME NOT SERVED for a grand total of 3650 days (10-year sentence). (R. 40) While Bolden was completing the aggravated assault/battery sentences, his conditional release supervision on the shotgun sentence was tolled 337 days (from April 25, 1999 to March 27, 2000). (R. 40-41)<sup>4</sup>

Bolden was released to supervision under the custody of the Florida Parole Commission on March 27, 2000. (R. 41) At this time, Bolden had 1334 days to serve on supervision on the shotgun sentence and 997 days to serve on supervision for the aggravated assault/battery sentences. (R. 40-41)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The fourth 10-year sentence for felonious possession of a firearm is not relevant to this litigation. That sentence ended the earliest through the accumulation of the greatest amount of gain time and without conditional release supervision to follow.

Bolden did not complete his supervision, which was revoked after he had been under supervision for 236 days, effective November 18, 2000, with 1 day of credit granted by the Commission. (R. 71-72) Bolden, therefore, was returned to prison to continue serving his sentences where they had ended.

The calculation of his new release date began with the date the sentence was originally imposed, and the period of time from that date forward when he was not in service of the prison term was accounted for in the calculation. Otherwise, by default this time would have become prison time served. The calculation on both sentences included a toll time of 236 days (less 1 day of FPC credit) for time spent at liberty under supervision, and the calculation on the shotgun sentence included an additional toll time of 337 days to account for the time Bolden remained incarcerated to serve the aggravated assault/battery sentences after the prison term on the shotgun sentence had ended through the accumulation of gain-time. previously awarded gain-time on both sentences was also forfeited pursuant to section 944.28(1), Florida Statutes (1991-2002).

The structure of his sentences are shown as follows:

Shotgun Sentence		Assault/Battery Sentences		
Date/Sentence	April 27, 1993	Date/Sentence	April 27, 1993	
10 years	+ 3650 days	10 years +365	0 days	
Jail Credit	- 127 days	Jail Credit - 12	27 days	
Gain Time	- 1334 days	Gain Time	- 997 days	
Initial		Initial		
End Date	April 25, 1999	End Date	March 27, 2000	

Time on Cond. + 236 days Time on Cond. + 236 day Rel. Sup. Rel. Sup. (3-27-00 -(3-27-00-11-18-00) 11-18-00) FPC Credit - 1 days FPC Credit - 1 day GT Forfeited + 1334 days GT Forfeited + 997 days Time Served in Prison on other Sentences (4-25-99 to3-27-00) + 337 days -----GT earned since GT earned since

GT earned since GT earned since return to prison as violator - 124 days as violator - 124 days

End Date March 11, 2004 End Date April 9, 2003

Bolden's new tentative release date may also be calculated in the following manner:

Shotgun Sentence. November 18, 2000 (revocation date) +
1334 days (time not actually served) - 1 day (FPC credit) 124 days (gain time awarded since return to prison) = March
11, 2004.

Assault/Battery Sentences. November 18, 2000 (revocation
date) + 997 days (time not actually served) - 1 day (FPC
credit) - 124 days (gain time awarded since return to prison =
April 9, 2003.

Petitioner Bolden filed in Leon County Circuit Court Case

No. 2001 CA 142 a mandamus petition in which he contended that the time he was under supervision was 236 days, but that the Department had erroneously calculated it to be 573 days (236 + 337 = 573 days). (R. 1-20) The Department responded that the 337 days represented the time Bolden remained in prison on other sentences after the shotgun sentence had ended and argued that all the time Bolden was not in service of the shotgun sentence had to be accounted for in establishing his new tentative release date. (R. 23-72) Bolden replied that he served both prison time and supervision time simultaneously, and further that under no circumstances could the Department confine him in prison more than 10 years. (R. 73-78)

The Leon County Circuit Court agreed with the Department and denied the mandamus petition, relying in part on Evans v. Singletary, 737 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1999). (R. 79-83) The First DCA conducted certiorari review of the Circuit Court's order denying Bolden's mandamus petition. The First DCA first published an opinion in this case on August 2, 2002, but on January 8, 2003, that opinion was withdrawn and replaced with a new one. (A. 1-11) The Court granted the certiorari petition and concluded that the conditional release supervision could not be tolled on Bolden's shotgun sentence while he completed the prison terms on the aggravated

assault/battery sentences, and that <u>no</u> tolling time could be accounted for in calculating Bolden's new release date upon his return to prison as a conditional release violator. (A. 10) By implication, the Court further concluded that Bolden was entitled to 337 days of credit on his shotgun sentence to account for the time he remained incarcerated after the shotgun sentence ended until his release to supervision. (A. 10)

Recognizing the effect of its decision on the "Department's sentencing procedures and the Florida Parole Commission's supervision of those subject to conditional release," the First DCA certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHEN AN INMATE WHO IS SERVING SEVERAL RELATED SENTENCES SUBJECT TO CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION FOR MULTIPLE CRIMES OCCURRING IN THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE HAS VIOLATED CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE, CONSIDER TIME SERVED FOLLOWING THE EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTION OF ONE SENTENCE, WHILE AWAITING EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTIONS OF THE OTHER RELATED SENTENCES, AS TOLLED, PURSUANT TO EVANS V.

SINGLETARY, 737 SO.2D 505 (FLA. 1999), AND, IF SO, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT ADD SUCH TOLLED TIME ONTO THE SENTENCE IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE? (A. 10-11)

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent Bolden received four concurrent sentences,
each of which was viewed individually to determine whether he
was subject to conditional release supervision, the length of
the supervision, and the amount of gain-time subject to
forfeiture upon revocation of supervision. Bolden was subject
to conditional release supervision on three of the sentences
(shotgun, aggravated assault, and aggravated battery
sentences). The length of the supervision on each sentence
was equal to the amount of gain-time that was applied to the
sentence, and that same amount of gain-time was forfeited upon
Bolden's return to prison as a supervision violator. The new
release date also was extended on each sentence to account for
the number of days Bolden was not in service of the prison
term on the sentence.

Two tolling periods were involved in this process. The first was the tolling of the period of supervision until the incarceration portion of all the sentences was served. The second was the tolling of the period of incarceration on each sentence from the date each sentence conditionally ended through the accumulation of gain-time until supervision was revoked.

Pursuant to the conditional release supervision statute

and Evans, supervision commences when the inmate is released from custody, which is the date the inmate reaches the overall tentative release date, not from the date one of the sentences ends earlier than the overall tentative release date.

Supervision, therefore, necessarily is tolled on a sentence that ends before the overall tentative release date is reached. Otherwise, the period of supervision to be served at liberty is reduced or eliminated entirely.

Upon reaching the ending date of a concurrent sentence through the accumulation of gain-time, the prison term conditionally has been served. From that point forward, the Department no longer has custody over the inmate on that sentence and cannot regain custody unless, and until, the Commission or the sentencing court revokes the supervision and returns the inmate to prison as a supervision violator. Between these two dates, the Department has no authority to grant the inmate credit for prison time (equal to the amount of time spent in prison serving other sentences or the amount of time spent out of prison under supervision). Prison time, therefore, necessarily is tolled on a sentence after it conditionally ends until the inmate returns to prison as a supervision violator. Otherwise, the period of supervision and the period of incarceration to be served as a violator is

reduced or eliminated entirely. This is so because a sentence is comprised of time served and time not served (gain-time), and the decrease or increase of one automatically decreases or increases the other.

Both types of tolling periods were the longest on Bolden's shotgun sentence because it ended first, and from the date the sentence conditionally ended until Bolden was actually released from prison, neither supervision nor prison time was running. If supervision had been running in prison, it would have reduced his supervision at liberty by 337 days, and if prison time had been running in prison while he served the other sentences, it would have reduced by 337 days his period of supervision at liberty and his period of incarceration as a supervision violator.

To avoid granting Bolden unauthorized prison credit upon his return to prison as a supervision violator on the shotgun sentence, the Department had to extend his new tentative release date on that sentence by 573 days (337 days for time spent in prison solely on the other sentences and 236 days for time spent at liberty under supervision), less the 1 day of supervision credit granted by the Commission.

The First DCA held that supervision on the shotgun sentence began in prison, and that upon revocation of

supervision, the Department could not extend Bolden's new release date to account for the time he remained in prison to serve the other sentences after his shotgun sentence conditionally ended through the accumulation of gain-time. In other words, neither Bolden's supervision period nor his period of incarceration could be tolled during this time frame. These holdings are impossible to reconcile because an inmate cannot serve supervision and prison time simultaneously on the same sentence.

The First DCA based its holdings on the proposition that the Department needs express legislative authority to toll both the running of supervision and the running of prison time. Respectfully, just the opposite is true. The Department needs express legislative authority for supervision to begin running before release from custody and for prison time to continue running after the sentence has conditionally ended. No such authority exists. Supervision begins upon release from custody, and prison time restarts upon revocation of supervision.

Approval of the First DCA's decision will undermine legislative intent as manifested in both the gain-time and conditional release statutes by reducing or eliminating on a sentence the amount of time an inmate must spend under

conditional release supervision, and the amount of time the inmate must spend incarcerated as a supervision violator. In addition, requiring the Department and the Commission to base tolling decisions on whether multiple concurrent sentences were imposed for related or unrelated offenses is an impossible task.

### CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHEN AN INMATE WHO IS SERVING SEVERAL RELATED SENTENCES SUBJECT TO CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION FOR MULTIPLE CRIMES OCCURRING IN THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE HAS VIOLATED CONDITIONAL RELEASE SUPERVISION, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE, CONSIDER TIME SERVED FOLLOWING THE EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTION OF ONE SENTENCE, WHILE AWAITING EXPIRATION OF THE INCARCERATIVE PORTIONS OF THE OTHER RELATED SENTENCES, AS TOLLED, PURSUANT TO EVANS V.

SINGLETARY, 737 SO.2D 505 (FLA. 1999), AND, IF SO, SHOULD THE DEPARTMENT ADD SUCH TOLLED TIME ONTO THE SENTENCE IN CALCULATING THE NEW RELEASE DATE?

The answer to the certified question is a resounding "Yes." The First DCA in this case held that when an inmate is serving concurrent conditional release eligible sentences imposed for related crimes committed in the same incident, conditional release supervision cannot be tolled on any of the sentences that may end before the last sentence ends, and (except for the tolling of the prison term during supervision outside the prison) that no tolling can be accounted for in calculating a new release date upon the inmate's return to prison as a conditional release supervision violator.

The First DCA construed <u>Evans</u>, <u>supra</u>, to hold that conditional release supervision could be tolled on a supervision sentence that ends before a <u>non</u>supervision sentence <u>only</u> where both sentences are imposed for <u>un</u>related offenses and run concurrently. The First DCA concluded that

except for the <u>Evans</u> scenario, the Department has no <u>judicial</u> authority or any <u>statutory</u> authority to toll conditional release supervision. It further concluded that the Department has no <u>statutory</u> or <u>judicial</u> authority whatever to extend an inmate's release date to account for the time the inmate remained in prison after a supervision sentence ended until all the other sentences were served and the overall tentative release date was reached.

The First DCA's opinion affects how the ending dates on sentences are calculated before the inmate is released to conditional release supervision, the amount of time the inmate is to serve under supervision, how the ending dates on sentences are calculated upon the inmate's return to prison as a supervision violator, and how the inmate's new tentative release date is determined.

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Each prison sentence has its own ending date, which is calculated based on factors unique to it: Date sentence was imposed; length of sentence imposed; special provisions imposed, such as minimum mandatory terms; presentencing credit granted by the sentencing court, such as credit for time spent in jail awaiting disposition of the case under § 921.161, Fla. Stat., credit for prison time served and gain-time awarded

under State v. Green, 547 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1989), Tripp v. State, 622 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1993), and § 921.0017, Fla. Stat.; rate and amount of gain-time applied under § 944.275(4), Fla. Stat.; credit for time spent under executive supervision upon revocation of supervision, which is granted by the Commission; and forfeiture of gain time under § 944.28, Fla. Stat.

This Court repeatedly has recognized the uniqueness of each sentence. Parole Com'n v. Cooper, 701 So.2d 543 (Fla. 1997); Pressley v. Singletary, 724 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1997); and Evans, 737 So.2d at 508 (The conclusion that tolling of conditional release supervision is proper "is still in accord with both Cooper and Pressley because the concern in those cases was that each sentence had to be viewed individually for purposes of eligibility for Conditional Release, the length of supervision, and any resulting gain-time forfeiture").

A prison sentence is served by incarceration, not at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See e.g., Schell v. Wainwright, 322 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1975) (Commission has statutory discretion to grant parole credit on prison term); Coleman v. Wainwright, 323 So.2d 581, 582 (Fla. 1975) (no constitutional right to parole credit on prison term); Gay v. Singletary, 700 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1997) (Commission has statutory authority to deny or grant control release credit on prison term); Rivera v. Singletary, 707 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1998) (same, but as to conditional release credit); Thomas v. Moore, 797 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 2001) (same, but as to vacation of control release after revocation of probation).

liberty, and it ends when the sentence has been served either day for day in prison or through the accumulation of gain time. On the date the inmate's last sentence ends, he or she will be released from prison. Since this date may be earlier than the length of the sentence imposed, a tentative release date (TRD) is established to project the earlier release date through the accumulation of gain-time.

The computation begins with the date the sentence commences to run, which is the date the sentence is imposed. § 944.275(2) and 921.161(1), Fla. Stat. A maximum release date is established first based on the following formula: date sentence imposed + prison term imposed (converted into days) minus judicial credit for presentence time served. § 944.275(2)(a), Fla. Stat. The TRD then is established based on the following formula: maximum release date minus award of gain time plus forfeiture of gain time. § 944.275(3)(a), Fla. Stat.

Although each sentence has its own ending date (calculated in the same manner as is the ending date on the TRD sentence), there is only one overall TRD, which is determined by the sentence or sentences which end last.

Generally it is the longest sentence imposed, Winkler v.

Moore, 831 So.2d 63, 71 (Fla. 2002), but due to the variations

in the gain-time earned on each sentence and the date of imposition, it may be a shorter sentence or a sentence of the same length.

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