# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC03-137** 

JAMES V. CROSBY, JR,	etc.,
Petitioner,	
<b>v.</b>	
JOHNNY BOLDEN,	
Respondent.	
	ANSWER BRIEF

DEBORAH MARKS DEBORAH MARKS, P.A. 999 Brickell Bay Drive Suite 1809 Miami, FL 33131 Tel: 305-372-9400

#

### **Statement of the Facts and Case**

For the purpose of answering the Certified Question presented herein, the Respondent adopts the statement of facts contained in the Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, which opinion is appended to the brief of Petitioner, Crosby.

Respondent has no material disputes with the statement of facts set forth in the Petitioner's brief, although it contains references to areas that are not truly relevant to the discrete legal issue presented in this case.

## **Summary of the Argument**

As *Evans v. Singletary*, 737 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1999) did not deal with the discrete issue presented herein, the answer to the certified question must be "no."

On a logic basis, it is inappropriate to ADD to a maximum release date time spent in jail after the first possible release date on a related sentence that is running concurrently days spent after that date but prior to the actual release date as a result of forfeiture of gain time. If the gain time did not exist, then the jail time was for that offense as well. There is no statutory or caselaw basis to create a situation where the maximum nights in jail can be enhanced by the loss of gain time due to the failure of a conditional release program. For any of the reasons so beautifully enunciated by the First District (analysis of similar cases or simply credit for time served) the decision reached by the First District was correct and other than clarifying what is meant by "related cases" so as to give comfort to the Parole Commission, the opinion should be endorsed by affirmance by this Court.

## Argument

#### CERTIFIED QUESTION:

When an Inmate Who is Serving Several Related Sentences Subject to Conditional Release Supervision for Multiple Crimes Occurring in the Same Criminal Episode has Violated Conditional Release Supervision, Should the Department of Corrections, in Calculating the New Release Date, Consider Time Served Following the Expiration of the Incarcerative Portions of the Other Related Sentences, as Tolled, Pursuant to Evans v. Singletary, 737 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1999) And, if so, Should the Department Add Such Tolled Time onto the Sentence in Calculating The New Release Date?

At the outset, Respondent states that the question as presented by the First District Court of Appeal must be considered in separate parts. The issue of whether the time served should be considered "tolled" (whether as a result of this Court's prior opinion or otherwise) and whether if it is "tolled" it should be ADDED onto the sentence in calculating a new release date are two entirely different issues. Whether the "tolling" determination should be as a result of *Evans* is yet a third. Respondent will address each of these component issues separately, as although the easy answer would be to simply state that the answer to the question as phrased is "no" because as Petitioner admits at page 28 of his brief this precise issue was not addressed in the *Evans* case and as such the *Evans* case cannot be read to require

mandatory tolling and if there is then no tolling there can be no addition thereof, but, that would ignore the very real issue that must be dealt with.

As above stated, however, the Petitioner has admitted that *Evans* may have addressed related issues but this precise issue was not addressed. As such, on a technical level, the overall answer to the certified question must be "no."

The core question presented by the facts of the within case is where a person is serving concurrent sentences all of which are subject to conditional-release supervision, which were scored on a single sheet (Respondent's suggested definition of "related sentences", see, Tripp v. State, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993)) and the release date for one sentence precedes the ultimate release date, whether the inmate should be additionally penalized through increased incarceration by being required to serve over again days already spent in prison if he forfeits "gain time" by failing to meet conditional release terms after his ultimate release as a result of a legal fiction that he really wasn't in jail at that time even though he was in the same cell he would have been in through those days had he not been good and accrued the gain time. To make the holding that the Petitioner and Amicus wish would be to discourage good behavior while in jail because had the gain time not been accrued for the incident for which the earlier

release date and then lost by violation of conditional release then the total days that the inmate would have been asked to spend in jail on that offense would be less than the suggested result of the Petitioner. Gain time is supposed to be an incentive- if it had the very real possible effect of extending jail time that purpose is not served.

Evans only dealt with the calculation of conditional release supervision time to be served where there was a separate sentence for an unrelated incident that was not subject to conditional release, but did not reach the question of how much time the inmate would be required to serve back in prison if the conditional release requirements were thereafter not met. There would be a significant difference in determining that issue from the issue presented in this case, however, since in this case ALL of the sentences were subject to conditional release and, accordingly, supervision would NOT run out if Mr. Bolden remained in jail after the first provisional release date on his next sentence as it would have in Evans where the longer sentence had no conditional release provision- in this case there would still be community watch when Mr. Bolden ultimately returned to society.

Petitioner's position actually suffers from the flaw that Petitioner ascribes to the reasoning of the First District Court of Appeal. Petitioner states that the First District erroneously held that the "supervised portion" of

the incident for which the earlier release date required started while the inmate remained in prison but since a person cannot be free and in jail at the same time that makes no sense and thus by extension of *Evans* Petitioner asks this Court to hold that the 337 days in question were in legally suspended animation for the inmate and that when he violated his conditional release and his gain time (which these 337 days would have been part of had he come out) was forfeited they should pretend that he was really out for those days and add them to the sentence for him to serve again. So, the real issue for this Court to consider, when the legal lingo is discarded, is what do we pretend was happening to Mr. Bolden during those 337 days he was kept in prison after he would have been let out on the first possible release date but before he was actually let out due to a different first possible release date for a separately sentenced but related crime. We know what factually he was doing- he was in jail based upon a single sentencing scoresheet. Do we pretend he was out in the community as a result of having been actually granted the full use of his gain time (because what actually happened with the hold back was that he didn't get to make full use of his gain time or he would have been out) and make him spend that number of days in jail again as part of the forfeiture of gain time- as is asked by the Petitioner and Amicus- or do we do something else.

Respondent does not agree that the First District simply pretended that Mr. Bolden was out on conditional release. What the First District actually refused to do was pretend that he was out and make him do those nights over. The beginning of conditional release was only part of the analysis utilized by the First District. The First District didn't agree that when "gain time" was retroactively reclassified as "gone" as a result of the forfeit that it would be equitable and justified by the currently operative statutes to not also reclassify the days he actually spent in jail as days spent in jail. They discussed credit for the time he had actually served- consistent with the concept that the purpose of giving credit for time served is to ensure that a defendant does not spend more time in jail than the germ of his sentence. *State v. Green*, 547 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1989)

There is no question that had there been a single sentence and had Mr. Bolden been released on the first possible day of release- 337 days before he got out- and had he lost his conditional release privilege when he did that those 337 days would now be due to be served BECAUSE HE HAD NEVER BEEN IN JAIL FOR THOSE DAYS! But, the reality of the world is that he was in jail and when resentencing, whether you determine that "tolling" shouldn't be added to a sentence or whether there is a determination that it would be appropriate at the time of recalculation to

consider those days as a "credit for time served" (the alternate construction given by the First District) you reach the same conclusion- for the totality of the sentencing on these related sentences he was in jail those days and it is wrong to simply add them on to create a situation where the maximum release date for the combined sentences consists of more jailed days than the original sentence provided. With normal forfeiture the total days does not extend the total sentence, in the scenario provided by the instant case and if the wishes of the Petitioner and Amicus were granted, it would. That unjust result was appropriately rejected by the First District.

Respondent believes that the First District eloquently dealt with the basis for its opinion and Respondent cannot do more than state that the logic and justification for the result reached is more than adequately supported by the cases cited within that opinion.

Petitioner's brief, and the brief of the Amicus, both attempt to utilize cases which are either based upon true split sentences, sentences that were unrelated and were thus not part of a total plan of incarceration, cases where there was an attempt to credit as time served time that was served in other jails for subsequently committed crimes, and cases where inmates tried to get credit for time on parole against jail time. Not one of the cases in either brief directly address the question that must be reached here. Not one

provides a statutory authority to create a situation where the maximum jail time of jailed days (not just a total of "10 years" for jail and probationary period for that certainly could take more than 10 years to accomplish if it were interrupted by a period or even multiple periods of conditional supervision that was unsuccessful and the gain time and times spent on conditional supervision were lost thereby requiring the inmate to return to prison to serve nights not before spent in jail) was enhanced. The distinguishing characteristics of the cases are clear- the cases cited are not inconsistent with the result reached by the First District in this case or with the issue created by this case. Petitioner admits that the operative statutes do not directly address the issue either. As such, despite the lengthy rhetoric, there is no direct legal basis for the conclusions reached by the Petitioner or Amicus.

In point of fact, § 944.28(1), Fla. Stat. (1999), simply states that upon revocation of conditional release all gain time is forfeited. If Mr. Bolden had not accrued gain time on that first releasable sentence, then he was logically still serving it and those days in jail were appropriately still ascribed to that sentence.

Respondent agrees with Petitioner that it is important to remember, as this Court held in *Brumit v. Wainwright*, 290 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1973) that

there are "no free men in jail." Mr. Bolden was in jail on what has now, with the forfeiture of gain time, become the equivalent of jailed days for that first offense. The logic and justification for the result reached by the First District is evident, and the fairness thereof manifest. The certified question should be answered in the negative, and the determination of the First District affirmed.

## Conclusion

For the above stated reasons, the question certified should be answered "no," however, Respondent agrees that the definition of "related sentences" should be clarified to ensure consistent application of the guidelines.